THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

May 12 2025

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Joseph M. Strickland, Master-In-Equity

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2023-001054

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, not in its individual or
banking capacity, but solely as Trustee on behalf of Green Tree
Mortgage Trust 2005-HE1... Respondent,

vs.

James E. Turner, a/k/a James Turner,
Sr. Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GLENN WALTERS, Esquire
1910 Russell Street (29115)
Post Office Box 1346
Orangeburg, SC 29116
Phone: 803 531-8844
Fax: 803 531-3628

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN ALLOWING THE RESPONDENT'S LITIGATION SUPPORT EMPLOYEE TO TESTIFY CONCERNING THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE LOAN DOCUMENT?**
- B. DID THE ADMISSION OF THE HEARSAY TESTIMONY WAS PREJUDICE THE OUTCOME OF DEFENDANT'S CASE?**
- C. SHOULD THE CASE BE DISMISSED BECAUSE RESPONDENT FAILED TO ESTABLISH A *PRIMA FACIE* CASE OF FORECLOSURE?**
- D. DID THE COURT ERR IN SETTING ASIDE THE LOST MORTGAGE SATISFACTION?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff [hereinafter used interchangeably with "Respondent"] commenced this foreclosure action by the filing of a Summons and Complaint on July 31, 2018. Plaintiff's complaint alleges four causes of action. *R. p. 35*. The First Cause of Action seeks to quiet title on the two parcels of land that are the subject of this foreclosure action. The Second Cause of Action seeks to foreclose on a parcel of land on which a mortgage was originated by Emergent Mortgage Corporation. Of importance, Emergent Mortgage Corporation subsequently became HomeGold, Inc.¹ Although Emergent Mortgage Corporation ["Emergent"] had become HomeGold, Inc. ["HomeGold"], Plaintiff named Emergent as a defendant. Plaintiff did not name HomeGold as a Defendant.

Plaintiff named numerous other defendants, including the typical unknown defendants, in a foreclosure action. On October 15, 2018, Attorney Kelley Y. Woody was appointed for Cynthia Turner and the other unknown persons in this lawsuit.

¹Defendant Turner requests the Court to take judicial notice of the public records located in the Office of the Secretary of State which shows that Emergent Mortgage Corporation subsequently became HomeGold, Inc. on May 9, 2000. A copy of the record from the Office of the Secretary of State for South Carolina is attached to this Memorandum as Enclosure 4.

Appellant James E. Turner, Sr. filed a pro se answer in the matter on August 24, 2018, and other defendants also filed answers in this case. Procedurally, this foreclosure was contested by Appellant. *R. p.61.*

The parties conducted discovery, and on June 10, 2021, the Plaintiff filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. In response to the Motion for Summary Judgment, Defendant James Turner filed over 400 pages of discovery documents in response. The trial court denied the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, and the matter proceeded to trial before the Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity for the County of Richland on May 11, 2023.

Judge Strickland entered an Order of Foreclosure and Sale on June 15, 2023. *See, Master in Equity's Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale*, dated June 15, 2023 [hereinafter referred to as the "Foreclosure Order"]. *R. p. 1.*

The Proposed Order of Foreclosure and Sale, as submitted by the Plaintiff, sought to sell the Appellant's property during the first week of August 2023. However, it was discovered, at the close of business on June 29, 2023, that the Property was included in the Master's Sale Roster for Monday, July 03, 2023, and it is scheduled to be sold on July 03, 2023, even though it had never been advertised in the newspaper for judicial sale as required by law. On June 30, 2023, Appellant filed an emergency *ex parte* Petition for *Writ of Supersedeas* in this Court, seeking an order to stop the sale of his home and business. This Court graciously granted the Appellant's Petition for *Writ of Supersedeas* which stopped the pending sale. Thereafter, on June 30, 2023, this Court temporarily granted the Petition for Supersedes, pending receipt of (1) a return to the petition and (2) this Court's receipt and review of a signed undertaking pursuant to *S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-1970*. Subsequently, the Court received both items, and on July 19, 2023, this Court issued an order holding the appeal in abeyance until Respondent' pending motion to "set bond and for

justification of sureties” with the master-in-equity could be resolved.

The matter then returned to Judge Strickland for two separate hearings. First, on August 14, 2023, the matter came before Judge Strickland on Respondent’s Motion to Set Bond and Justification of Sureties. After this hearing, Judge Strickland issued an order on August 21, 2023 setting a supersedeas bond for \$250,000, which was required to be posted within ten days of the order. *See, Master’s Order Setting Supersedeas Bond* [hereinafter referred to as “Supersedeas Bond Order No. 1”]. Supersedeas Bond Order No. 1 stated, in part, the following: “Should Defendant fail to submit the required bond within that time, a further hearing will be held, to be scheduled by Plaintiff’s counsel.” *Id.* Defendant was unable to acquire and file the required \$250,000.00 Supersedeas Bond. However, Plaintiff’s counsel did not schedule a hearing before the Master-in-Equity. Instead, on August 24, 2023, Defendant filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Supersedeas Bond No. 1, which brought the matter before Judge Strickland, post-appeal, for the second time for hearing. *See, Defendant’s Motion for Reconsideration of Appeal Bond, filed on October 12, 2023.* As a result of this second post-appeal hearing, Judge Strickland issued an order on October 17, 2023, reducing the supersedeas bond to \$150,000.00, which required the said bond to be submitted on or before November 13, 2023.² *Order Amending Appeal Bond* [hereinafter referred to as “Supersedeas Bond No. 2”].

On November 13, 2023, Defendant filed an undertaking in the amount of \$150,000.00 with the Clerk of Court for Richland County. *See, Undertaking of Ernest E. Yarborough.* Respondent never filed a Motion challenging the \$150,000.00 Undertaking. Defendant’s counsel sent an informal, non-specific email to Judge Strickland requesting that that property be placed back on the Master’s Sale’s List. Appellant’s counsel challenged such request with his own email

²At the end of the hearing on October 12, 2023, Judge Strickland granted Defendant counsel’s request to require only one surety. However, the Supersedeas Bond No. 2 used the work “sureties’—which is obvious an error.

to Judge Strickland, and counsel reasonably thought that the matter ended with Appellant's counsel understanding that Respondent was going to bring the matter before Judge Strickland in order to challenge the \$150,000.00 undertaking that was filed by the Appellant as a result of Supersedeas Bond Order No. 2. However, no such motion was filed. Strangely, the matter suddenly appeared, without notice to Appellant's counsel, on Judge Strickland's Master Sale List for sale January 4, 2023.

On November 7, 2023, the Court ordered Appellant to file his Initial Brief on December 7, 2023, and because of Appellant's Motion for Extension of Time, this Court extended the time to December 18, 2023, for Appellant to file and serve his Initial Brief.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A mortgage foreclosure is an action in equity. [This Court's] review of a case heard by a master who enters a final judgment is to determine facts in accordance with [its] own view of the preponderance of the evidence." *E. Sav. Bank, FSB v. Sanders*, 373 S.C. 349, 354, 644 S.E.2d 802, 805 (2007) (quoting *Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242, 248, 489 S.E.2d 472, 475 (1997)). "However, this broad scope of review does not require an appellate court to disregard the findings below or ignore the fact that the trial judge is in the better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses." *Pinckney v. Warren*, 344 S.C. 382, 387, 544 S.E.2d 620, 623 (2001). "[B]ecause the predominate issues involved in this appeal are equitable, [the appellate Court review[s] the evidence to determine the facts in accordance with [its] view of the preponderance of the evidence." *Heritage Fed. Sav. & Loan v. Eagle Lake & Golf Condos.*, 318 S.C. 535, 539, 458 S.E.2d 561, 564 (Ct. App. 1995). However, "the appellant is not relieved of his burden of convincing the appellate court the trial judge committed error in his findings." *Id.* at 387-88, 544 S.E.2d at 623. *See, also, U.S. Bank Trust Nat. Ass'n v. Bell*, 385 S.C. 364, 373 (S.C. Ct. App.

2009).

“Generally, the party seeking foreclosure has the burden of establishing the existence of the debt and the mortgagor's default on that debt. Once the debt and default have been established, the mortgagor has the burden of establishing a defense to foreclosure such as lack of consideration, payment, or accord and satisfaction. *See, Bandy v. Bandy*, 187 S.C. at 413(holding the burden was on defendant in mortgage foreclosure suit to establish her defense that mortgage and note secured thereby were without valuable consideration by preponderance of evidence).

FACTS

This foreclosure action was highly contested. *R. p. 61*. The key facts to support the arguments are as follows:

1. On or about November 6, 1996, Defendant James E. Turner [hereinafter Defendant J. “Turner”] took out a \$121,500.00 mortgage on a parcel of land that that is in the County of Richland, consisting of 2 acres [hereinafter referred to as “Mortgage 1”] *R. p. 40, admitted.*
2. Mortgage 1 was given to Emergent Mortgage Corporation, who was the original lender. *Id.*
3. Appellant James Turner testified that he paid the mortgage and at least Mortgage 1 was paid and satisfied in full. *R. pp. 79-125.*
4. On or about October 05, 2007, Emergent Mortgage Corporation satisfied Mortgage 1 by filing a Lost Mortgage Satisfaction in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Richland County in Deed Book 1364, page 1234. *R. p. 44.*

5. Emergent Mortgage Corporation [“Emergent”] merged with and became HomeGold, Inc. Printout from Office of Secretary State of South Carolina.³
6. HomeGold, Inc. endured a 36-month investigation that ended with many of its leaders being indicted and convicted many securities and other crimes. *R. p. 470.*⁴
7. Plaintiff alleges to have received an assignment of Mortgage 1 from Carolina Investors, Inc., a company that was included in the HomeGold Investigation.
8. Carolina Investors and HomeGold officers were indicted and convicted:⁵
 - Larry Owen, former Carolina Investors President, pleaded guilty on July 22, 2004, to 22 counts of securities fraud. On March 30, 2005, Owen was sentenced to eight years in prison.
 - Earle Morris, former Carolina Investors Chairman, was convicted on November 18, 2004, on 22 counts of securities fraud and was sentenced to 44 months in prison. He is currently out on bond pending an appeal.
 - Anne Owen, former Carolina Investors Vice-President, pleaded guilty on July 18, 2005, to eight counts of securities fraud and was sentenced to 10 years suspended to 90 days in jail time. Owen was also sentenced to 5 years’ probation, the first 18 months of which are to be served as home detention.
 - Karen Miller, former Chief Financial Officer of HomeGold, Inc., pleaded guilty on Tuesday, September 13, 2005, to one count of conspiracy. Miller's

³Defendant J. Turner requests the Court to take judicial notice of this fact.

⁴Defendant J. Turner requests the Court to take judicial notice of this fact.

⁵See, footnote 3 above.

sentencing is being deferred while she cooperates with the state grand jury investigation.

- Ronald Sheppard, Former Chief Executive Officer of HomeGold Inc., was indicted on Wednesday, November 16, 2005, by the State Grand Jury on 10 criminal counts to include securities fraud, conspiracy, bank fraud, insurance fraud, forgery, perjury, breach of trust and obtaining goods under false pretenses. Sheppard's trial is scheduled for January 15, 2007, in Lexington.
- Jack Sterling, former Chairman of the Board of Directors of HomeGold, Inc., was indicted on Wednesday, April 12, 2006, by the State Grand Jury, on three criminal counts to include two counts of securities fraud and conspiracy. If convicted on all counts, Sterling could face 25 years in prison and \$105,000 in fines.

9. Effective August 31, 2015, Ditech Mortgage Corporation merged with Green Tree Servicing, LLC ["Greentree"], and Greentree was the surviving entity and Ditech Mortgage Corporation ceased to exist as a legal entity. *R. p. 470.*
10. To support its request to foreclose on Mortgage 2, Plaintiff relies upon an alleged assignment from Ditech that was signed on April 16, 2018, after Ditech no longer existed as a legal entity. *Id.*
11. Other than Defendant James E. Turner, Sr., the only witness testimony that Respondent offered at trial was from Charles Kevorkian ["Kevorkian"].

12. Kevorkian is employed with Shellpoint mortgage Services as a litigation foreclosure case manager. *R. pp. 129-243.*
13. He started working for Shellpoint in December of 2019. *R. p. 130.*
14. Kevorkian testified that he has a small portfolio of loans that are in default that he manages. However, he never testified that he manages Appellant's loan. *Id.* His job is to review files, documents, prepare for contested trial, uncontested trials, as well as depositions. *Id.*
15. Respondent admitted 25 Exhibits in an attempt to prove its case. *R. p. 319.* Defendant's counsel did not object to the admissibility of most of the documents. However, he strenuously objected to Kevorkian admitted testimony concerning the information contained in the said documents. The Court allowed defense counsel to state a standing objection to Kevorkian's testimony. *R. p. 63.*
16. Defense counsel's objections to Kevorkian's testimony were grounded in the legal holdings of *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group*, 413 S.C. 58, 773 S.E.2d 60, 614 (S.C. Ct. App. 2015). In stating his consistent and standing objections to Kevorkian's testimony, defense counsel relied upon *Deep Keel* by name. *Id.*
17. No loan history data was admitted. Exhibits 24 and 25 (contained the alleged loan historical data and it was marked for identification, but it was not admitted). Said documents were later submitted to the Clerk for Filing by the Appellant, but such documents were not admitted as exhibits during the trial. Therefore, these two documents did not constitute the payment history of the mortgages at issue.

18. Plaintiff admitted the Lost Mortgage Satisfaction, dated October 5, 2007, by Emergent swearing that the \$121,500.00 Mortgage had been satisfied in full. *R. p. 260.* This document was given under oath by an Emergent Official. Respondent did not produce a witness to refute this document or to prove that it was signed in effort. Turner referred to this document to support his position that the mortgage was paid in full. Turner's testimony did not challenge this satisfaction. Over Defendant's objection, Kevorkian simply stated that payments were made after this document was signed by Emergent *R. p. 169.*
19. The official records from Delaware Secretary of State established that Ditech Mortgage Corporation and Green Tree Servicing LLC merged on August 31, 2015, and Green Tree survived the merger and Ditech ceased to exist on the merger date. *R. p. 284.* However, despite Ditech's non-existence as of **August 31, 2015**, Respondent contended at trial that Ditech issued Plaintiff rights to the \$55,000.00 by assignment dated **April 16, 2018**. Plaintiff's Exhibit 22 [hereinafter referred to as the "Ditech Assignment"]. Plaintiff's Exhibits 22. This is the only documentary evidence that Kevorkian used to testify, over objection, that Plaintiff was the holder of the note involving the \$55,250.00 mortgage. *R. p. 176.*
20. Respondent admitted, over Defendant's objection, an affidavit of verified statement of account for both loans, signed by Steven Reeves, a Litigation Specialist with Shellpoint. *See, Exhibits Plaintiff's Exhibits 19 and 24.* Kevorkian did not testify that he had personal knowledge of the information contained in the verified statements. *R. pp. 10-171.*

If necessary, additional relevant facts are included in the discussion of each argument as

allowed by the appellate rules of this Court. *See, Rule 208(b)(1)(E)*, SCACR (requiring citation to authority in the argument section of an appellant's brief).

ARGUMENTS

A. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERRED IN ALLOWING THE RESPONDENT'S LITIGATION SUPPORT EMPLOYEE TO TESTIFY CONCERNING THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE LOAN DOCUMENTS, ADMITTED OR NOT ADMITTED.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court and absent clear abuse, will not be disturbed on appeal. *Recco Tape Label Co. v. Barfield*, 312 S.C. 214, 439 S.E.2d 838 (1994). In the context of a contested foreclosure, like other contested cases, the admissibility of documents and testimony was clearly established by 2015 as a result of this Court's holding in *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC*, *supra*, which held as follows:

A party offering evidence must meet “[t]he requirement of authentication ... as a condition precedent to admissibility.” Rule 901(a), SCRE. The authentication requirement “is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” *Id.* “[T]he burden to authenticate ... is not high” and requires only that the proponent “offer[] a satisfactory foundation from which the jury could reasonably find that the evidence is authentic.” *United States v. Hassan*, 742 F.3d 104, 133 (4th Cir.2014) (decided under Fed. R. Evid. 901(a)); see also 29A Am. Jur. 2d Evidence § 1045 (2008) (“The authentication requirement does not demand that the proponent of ... evidence conclusively demonstrate [its] genuineness. ”).

Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC, 773 S.E.2d at 610 [sometimes referred to as “Deep Keel”]. *Deep Keel* provided additional instructions as follows:

However, establishing that a witness is qualified to testify about a business record does not automatically lead to admission of that record. The qualified witness must then lay the foundation to meet the requirements of Rule 803(6) and section 19–5–510. *See State v. Davis*, 371 S.C. 170, 178–79, 638 S.E.2d 57, 62 (2006) (stating the proponent of evidence has the burden of establishing that a record falls within a hearsay exception). There are numerous elements to the foundation for a business record to which Bynum did not testify in this case. *See Ex parte Dep't of Health*

Envtl. Control, 350 S.C. at 249–50, 565 S.E.2d at 297 (listing the elements of the business records exception).

Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC, 773 S.E.2d at 61. In other words, Deep Keel recognizes that loan documents can be properly admitted “to show the existence of an agreement to loan money, the terms of repayment, and the existence of a security interest in the real estate. Because the loan documents [are] not offered to prove the truth of any statement, they [are] not hearsay and the master [can] correctly admit[] them.” *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC*, 773 S.E.2d at 613 (S.C. Ct. App. 2015). However, *Deep Keel* held as follows:

. . . Rule 803(6) does not apply to admit live testimony offered to prove the contents of a record containing hearsay when that record is not offered in evidence. See *Thompson v. State*, 705 So.2d 1046, 1048 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1998) (“While the business-records exception to the hearsay rule allows the admission of ‘[a] memorandum, report, record, or data compilation,’ it does not authorize hearsay testimony concerning the contents of business records which have not been admitted into evidence.” (citation omitted)).”

Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC, 773 S.E.2d at 614-15.

In the case now before this Court, Judge Strickland erred by allowing Mr. Kevorkian, a litigation support specialist, to provide live testimony concerning the payment history for the two loans because the business records supporting such conclusions were not admitted into evidence, and such live testimony squarely violated the holdings in *Deep Keel*.

First, before reviewing the live testimony, it is important to identify the records upon which the impermissible testimony was based. The alleged compilation of the loans’ history is contained in two documents, identified in the trial transcript as Plaintiff’s Exhibits 25 and 26 [collectively referred to as the Loan History Documents]. Exhibits 25 and 26 were not admitted into evidence because Respondent’s counsel “laid the exhibits on the floor” and forgot to admit them during his case-in-chief. *R. pp. 181-182*. [Defense counsel stated, in part

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