**RECEIVED**

**May 07 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Joseph M. Strickland, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No.: 2023-001054

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, not in its individual  
or banking capacity, but solely as Trustee on behalf of Green  
Tree  
Mortgage Trust 2005-  
HE1.....Respondent,

vs.

James E. Turner, a/k/a James Turner, Sr.....Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Jason M. Hunter  
Crawford & von Keller, LLC  
Post Office Box 4216  
Columbia, South Carolina 29204  
Telephone 803-790-2626  
ATTORNEYS FOR THE RESPONDENT

CONTENTS

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### PLAINTIFF PROVED ALL OF THE NECESSARY ELEMENTS OF A FORECLOSURE

#### **(i) Debts owed by Appellant, Evidenced by Notes which were Defaulted on.**

As noted above, Respondent brought two foreclosure causes of action based upon the default of two separate Notes and Mortgages (styled “Note 1” & “Mortgage 1”; and “Note 2” & “Mortgage 2” herein).

Appellant admitted to executing Note 1 in both his Answer filed August 24, 2018 in the instant case and in his sworn testimony provided at trial. (R. pp. 31; 83 lines 16-25; 84 lines 1-3; 86 lines 1-8; 272-273). Appellant further admitted through testimony at trial that he agreed to repayment of the amounts advanced under Note 1. (R. p. 86 lines 1-5). Appellant’s Answer and testimony at trial also included an admission that he executed Note 2. (R. pp. 31; 87 lines 1-22; 300-301).

Appellant further testified when deposed and at trial that he had no records substantiating his claim that Note 1 was paid off in full. (R. pp. 89 lines 11-25; 90-91; 255 lines 18-21; 256-257).

Appellant’s counsel also took testimony at trial from a Charles Kevorkian (“Kevorkian” hereinafter). Kevorkian served as a fact witness and is an employee of Appellant under the title “Litigation Foreclosure” case manager. (R. pp. 129 lines 12-25; 130 lines 1-10). Kevorkian testified that his duties in the course of his employment included: management of a small

portfolio of loans that are in default; the review of files and documents, and; preparation for contested and uncontested trials as well as depositions. (R. 130 lines 20-25). Kevorkian further testified that he had performed similar duties for a prior employer which had earlier serviced the subject loans. (R. p 131).

Aside from having a general familiarity with the documents used by lenders and mortgage servicers, Kevorkian testified to having specific knowledge about the subject Notes 1 & 2 gained through the review of records maintained by his employer. (R. pp. 132 lines 19-25; 133 lines 20-25; 148 lines 17-25; 149 lines 1-24). Regarding Notes 1 & 2, Kevorkian testified that both were in payment default, having then owed balances of \$353,029.02 and \$172,270.76, respectively. (R. pp. 170-178). Kevorkian stated that Respondent was the holder of Notes 1 & 2, and that notices of default were sent to the Appellant for both. (R. pp. 170-178; 293-467).

Kevorkian's testimony also addressed Appellant's unsubstantiated assertion that Note 1 had been paid in full. Appellant's argument regarding this purported payoff consisted solely of pointing to the errant mortgage satisfaction dealt with in Respondent's Declaratory Judgment cause of action. Kevorkian testified that the final payment made by or on behalf of Appellant on Note 1 was submitted on January 31, 2009. As such, this final payment was made over two years after the ineffectual Lost Mortgage Satisfaction had been filed on October 5, 2007 by a party who no longer held Mortgage 1. (R. pp. 168 lines 11-25; 169).

Kevorkian's testimony on behalf of the Respondent was effective in establishing that: a debt was owed by Appellant unto Respondent; that Appellant was in payment default as to the contracts governing repayment of that debt; and the then-current amounts owed under said contracts. As noted above, the trial court found that "the customer file of [Appellant] James E Turner including the respective notes and mortgages and payment history were properly admitted under Rule 803 (6) SCRE and S. C. Code of Laws Section 19 – 5 – 510." (R. 18). The lower Court also found that "[t]he [Appellant's] witness testimony as to the debt was properly admitted as the witness testified that he had reviewed the payment history previously entered into evidence in Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment." (*Id.*).

"Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered in court to prove the truth of the matter asserted. *S.C. R. Evid. 801(c)*. Hearsay is inadmissible unless an exception or an exclusion applies. *S.C. R. Evid. 802*. One such exception is the business records exception, which states: A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, or

diagnoses, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge, if kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity, and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make the memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness. S.C. R. Evid. 803(6).” *State v. Thompson*, 420 S.C. 386, 392, 803 S.E.2d 44, 47 (Ct. App. 2017). Respondent’s witness, having testified to his experience with his employer was properly deemed a qualified witness in this matter. Further, Kevorkian’s testimony clearly states that his familiarity with the subject accounts stemmed from a review of records on the Subject Notes, Mortgages, and accounts as kept by his employer in the ordinary course of his employer’s regularly conducted business activities. (R. pp. 132 lines 19-25; 133; 134 lines 1-11; 233 lines 19-25; 234-242.

The relevant account documents were also properly authenticated pursuant to S.C. R. Evid. 901. “A party offering evidence must meet ‘[t]he requirement of authentication . . . as a condition precedent to admissibility.’ Rule 901(a), SCRE. The authentication requirement ‘is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.’ ‘[T]he burden to authenticate . . . is not high’ and requires only that the proponent ‘offer a satisfactory foundation from which the jury could reasonably find that the evidence is authentic.’ *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atl. Private Equity Grp., LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 64-65, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing *United States v. Hassan*, 742 F.3d 104, 133 (4th Cir. 2014); *901(a) S.C. R. Evid.*; & *29A Am. Jur. 2d Evidence § 1045* (2008)). The Master-in-Equity was rightfully satisfied with the foundation laid through Kevorkian’s testimony.

Appellant’s Initial Brief seems to misconstrue the effect of the findings in *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atl. Private Equity Grp., LLC* upon the proof offered by Respondent. *App. Br. 11-14*. In *Deep Keel*, loan documents offered by the creditor were considered authenticated under S.C. R. Evid. 901(b)(1), since its member's testimony showed he had personal knowledge that the loan documents were the same ones the bank provided to him when the creditor purchased the asset the loan documents represented. Said loan documents were also considered as having been authenticated under Rule 901(b)(4), and were self-authenticating under S.C. R. Evid. 902(9). As such, the loan documents were not hearsay under S.C. R. Evid. 801(c). The member's testimony as to the deficiency was hearsay and was not admissible under S.C. R. Evid. 803(6), which allowed for the admission of a document but not testimony describing it, and did not apply to

admit live testimony offered to prove the contents of a record containing hearsay when that record was not offered in evidence. Put another way, Rule 803(6) S.C. R. Evid. permits the introduction of documents, but does not allow a witness to testify as to the content of documents that are not of record.

There was some controversy at trial as to the admission of the relevant payment histories for the subject accounts. (R. pp. 319-467). During Kevorkian's cross examination, Respondent's counsel stated that he had neglected to enter the payment histories into evidence as they had been inadvertently "laid on the floor." (R. p. 181 lines 21-25). The Master-in-Equity later allowed the evidence to be admitted on redirect. The Master's decision was correct, as it served the ends of justice in this case, and was also clearly made within his authority. "The scope of redirect examination is a matter within the discretion of the trial judge." *Levy v. Outdoor Resorts of S.C.*, 304 S.C. 427, 431, 405 S.E.2d 387, 390 (1991) (citing *State v. Stroman*, 281 S.C. 508, 316 S.E.2d 395 (1984)).

Further, as Kevorkian had already testified to his review of the documents, the redirect examination did not delve into an altogether new matter. *Id.* Additionally, in his cross examination, Appellant's counsel asked questions of Kevorkian which could only be answered through reference to the relevant payment histories, opening the door to further testimony on the matter in a redirect examination. (R. p. 185) (*see also 611(d) S.C. R. Evid.*). Rule 611(d) S.C. R. Evid. also explicitly states that a witness may be re-examined as to the same matters to which they testified prior at the discretion of the court. Therefore, the Master-in-Equity's admission of the payment histories on redirect was not only permissible but was the proper decision under these circumstances.

As indicated above, Respondent provided ample and emphatic evidence indicating that the Appellant owed a debt unto Respondent and that Appellant was in payment default as to the contracts governing that debt.

**(ii) The Subject Debts were Secured by Mortgages on Real Property and Respondent, as holder of the subject Notes and Mortgages, was in a Position to Enforce its Rights Under Both.**

#### AS TO MORTGAGE 1

Appellant admitted to executing Mortgage 1 in both his Answer filed in the instant case and in his sworn testimony provided at trial. (R. pp. 31; 83 lines 1-24). As is outlined in

Plaintiff's Complaint and as indicated by documents recorded in the Richland County Register of Deeds, Mortgage 1 was initially executed by the Appellant unto Emergent Mortgage Corp. and recorded on December 19, 1996 in Book 2058 at Page 516. Subsequently through an Assignment of Mortgage recorded December 19, 1996 in Book M2058 at Page 522, Mortgage 1 was assigned by Emergent Mortgage Corporation unto Carolina Investors, Inc. Following that, Carolina Investors, Inc. assigned the subject mortgage unto Appellant as evidenced by that Affidavit of Lost Assignment recorded May 25, 2018 in Book 2306 at Page 1330. (R. pp. 267-268; 274-279; 289).

Appellant has not made any contention with the authenticity of the original mortgage, the collateral described therein, or the initial assignment. Regarding the aforesaid Affidavit of Lost Assignment, Kevorkian testified that the document "reflect[ed] that there was an assignment of mortgage [1] from Carolina Investors to the [Respondent], and that it was misplaced." (R. pp. 161; 287-288). Respondent's ownership of Mortgage 1 was substantiated by the introduction of records establishing that Green Tree (assignee of Mortgage 1 on whose behalf Respondent is acting as trustee) purchased the right to repayment of Mortgage 1. (R. pp. 155 lines 17-25; 156; 161 lines 17-25; 280-281). As the Lost Mortgage Satisfaction had been executed by a representative of "Ditech Financial, LLC f/k/a Green Tree Servicing, LLC," Respondent further established that Green Tree had merged with and into Ditech Financial, LLC. (R. pp. 157-159; 282-288.) Said Affidavit of Lost Assignment states within the document that it was made necessary as prior holder Carolina Investors was "no longer in business and a replacement assignment [was] therefore unavailable." (R. p. 287 ¶ 4). The Affidavit of Lost Assignment also complies with all of the relevant requirements included in S.C. Code Ann. §§ 30-7-40 & 50.

In light of the foregoing, Respondent submitted evidence sufficiently indicating that it was the Holder of Mortgage 1 and as such was entitled to enforce its rights under the contract. Moreover, it has been long established in South Carolina that secondary evidence such as the subject Affidavit of Lost Assignment may be used to establish the assignment of a mortgage, "[w]e not think his Honor was in error in finding that the papers were lost, and in allowing the contents of the assignment to be shown by secondary evidence. *Talbert v. Talbert*, 97 S.C. 136, 144, 81 S.E. 644, 647 (1914).

Buttressing Respondent's standing as the real party in interest as to Mortgage 1 is the fact that, "[t]he assignment of a note secured by a mortgage carries with it an assignment of the

mortgage.” *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 220, 746 S.E.2d 478, 481 (Ct. App. 2013). The subject Note 1, which corresponds to Mortgage 1 and was admitted into evidence without objection by opposing counsel includes an allonge executed by a representative of prior holder Emergent unto Green Tree (again, the party on whose behalf Respondent is acting as trustee). (R. pp. 151; 272-273).

As referenced herein, Appellant has frequently pointed to the errant Lost Mortgage Satisfaction as evidence that his assertion of the underlying debt secured by Mortgage 1 has been paid in full. This assertion has been repeated despite the absolute impossibility of Emergent Mortgage Corp., the issuer, having the authority to submit a satisfaction following its alienation of the underlying security interest and right to repayment of the debt. “An assignee stands in the shoes of its assignor.” *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 220, 746 S.E.2d 478, 481 (Ct. App. 2013). As such, at the time of the Lost Mortgage Satisfaction’s recordation on October 5, 2007, Respondent was the only party in the world who could have recorded a satisfaction of Mortgage 1 with effective authority. Emergent, as the original mortgagee had relinquished that right on December 19, 1996. The date upon which its assignment to Carolina Investors was recorded. For the foregoing reasons Respondent was the proper party to bring a foreclosure action against Mortgage 1.

#### AS TO MORTGAGE 2

Please note that the Initial Brief of Appellant seems to conflate the facts surrounding the Respondent’s acquisition of Mortgage 2. Said brief in § ‘E’ refers to Mortgage 2 but incorrectly cites Respondent’s Exhibit 15, the Affidavit of Lost Assignment referred to herein above, as being applicable to Mortgage 2. This statement is incorrect, as the Affidavit of Lost Assignment is incontrovertibly pertinent to Mortgage 1.

Respondent’s acquisition of Mortgage 2 is rather mundane and is indicated in the public records found at the offices of the Richland County Register of Deeds. As noticed herein, Appellant executed and delivered Mortgage 2 on February 12, 1997, unto Green Tree Financial Servicing Corporation its successors and their assigns. On February 21, 1997, said Mortgage was recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Richland County in Book 2080 at Page 0253, and that by an Assignment of Mortgage dated April 16, 2018 and recorded April 27, 2018 in Book 2298 at Page 2401, the subject mortgage was assigned by Ditech Financial LLC f/k/a

Green Tree Servicing LLC f/k/a Conseco Finance Servicing Corp. f/k/a Green Tree Financial Servicing Corporation unto the Respondent. (R. pp. 302-309).

Appellant introduced a single exhibit at trial, an unrecorded assignment executed on or about March 7, 1997 by an agent of Green Tree Financial Servicing Corporation unto a First Trust National Association. *App. Ex. 1*. It is important to note that this assignment is ineffective as it does not comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 30-7-50. Notably, the assignment was not “witnessed as mortgages of real property are required to be witnessed” in South Carolina. *Id.* Put another way, the assignment was not witnessed by a second witness in addition to the notary public. Appellant’s Exhibit 1 was also deficient under S.C. Code Ann. § 30-7-50 in that it failed to include address of the mortgagee and the book, page, and date of recording of the original mortgage. Further, there is no extrinsic evidence whatsoever that the purported assignor intended to assign the mortgage and did not abandon the purported assignment after its execution.

Finally, South Carolina follows a race-notice recording statute for mortgage assignments. *S.C. Code Ann. § 30-7-10*. As mentioned above, Appellant’s Exhibit 1 was not recorded and as such the assignment of Mortgage 2 into Respondence takes priority. Given the facts outlined above, Respondent was clearly the holder of Mortgage 2 and the proper party to bring a foreclosure action to enforce its rights as to Mortgage 2.

### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent has established the debts owed by Appellant along with Appellant’s default on said debts. From the date upon which this matter was filed, Appellant has acted solely to delay Respondent’s pursuit of its rights under the subject contracts. Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the ruling of the Master-in-Equity. Respondent also notes for the Court that the sale of the subject properties has already been adjudged as allowed to move forward, and that a judicial sale has not yet occurred only because of Appellant’s pending bankruptcy suit filed in the District of South Carolina.